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Abstract 

In 1906, prominent Montreal architects Edward 
and William Sutherland Maxwell designed a 
new nurses' residence for the Royal Victoria 
Hospital. This paper offers an analysis of gen­
der in a large, late nineteenth-century city hos­
pital, the Royal Victoria, as well as an exami­
nation of the issues involved in designing a mod­
ern building type - the nurses' residence - in 
early twentieth-century Montreal. Precariously 
poised between private and public, the archi­
tecture of the nurses' residence clearly illumi­
nates the equally controversial place of women 
professionals in Canada's evolving health-care 
system. 

Résumé 

En 1906, d'éminents architectes montréalais, 
Edward et William Sutherland Maxwell, ont 
conçu les plans d'une nouvelle résidence d'in­
firmières pour l'Hôpital Royal Victoria. Cet ar­
ticle fait l'analyse de l'effectif masculin et 
féminin dans un grand hôpital urbain de la 
fin du xix1' siècle, le Royal Victoria, de même 
que l'examen des questions inhérentes à la 
conception d'un édifice moderne de ce genre 
- une résidence d'infirmières - au début du 
XXe siècle à Montréal. Se situant précairement 
à mi-chemin entre le public et le privé, l'archi­
tecture de la résidence des infirmières illustre 
également la place controversée des femmes 
de profession libérale dans le système évolutif 
des soins de santé au Canada. 

Fig. 1 
Maxwell watercolour 
perspective of the nurses' 
residence. (Courtesy 
Canadian Architecture 
Collection, McGHl 
University) 

In May 1905 Professor Percy Nobbs of McGill 
University recommended the design of Edward 
and William Sutherland Maxwell as submitted 
in the limited competition held for the new 
nurses' residence at Royal Victoria Hospital 
( R VH) (Fig. I).2 Certainly his choice of architect 

for the project came as no surprise. The Maxwell 
brothers had designed many of the gracious 
mansions which hugged Mount Royal to the 
west of the hospital, inhabited by the wealthy 
families who supported the hospital and at­
tempted to direct its future.3 

Other local architects, however, were com­
missioned to extend the building soon after its 
completion. In 1917, Hutchison and Wood, who 
had placed second in the 1905 competition, 
designed an addition to the north of the Maxwell 
building; the following year they added a kitch­
en.4 In 1931-32, the building was expanded once 
again. Lawson and Little's new wing to the west 
of the original nurses' home provided 132 addi­
tional rooms, as well as a gymnasium, reference 
library, dietetic laboratory, and lecture and de­
monstration rooms, for the expanding popula­
tion of student nurses at the RVH.5 

Rather than focus on the choice of architects 
by the hospital administration, however, this 
paper examines another side of the institution's 
architectural history, the complex relation 
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between the architectures of the Royal Victoria 
Hospital and its expanding nurses ' residence. 
Precariously poised between private and pub­
lic, the building and its subsequent additions 
reveal the truly paradoxica l re la t ionship of 
domestic and institutional women 's architec­
ture in the early twentieth century. A real "room 
of one's own," at least for nurses, offered both 
autonomy and restraint at once. 

The educational program for nurses based 
at the Royal Victoria Hospital did not begin with 
the realization of the Maxwells' new residence. 
Since the founding of the Training School in 
October 1894, nursing students at the RVH had 
lived amidst the large, open wards, exposed to 
the fetid air, contagious diseases, and never-
ending duties of turn-of-the-century nursing.6 

In earlier plans of the Royal Victoria Hospital, 
the women who worked day and night, trained 
countless others, and cared for the city's "sick 
and injured persons of all races and creeds, with­
out distinction," had few rooms of their own.7 

Unsigned plans of the hospital dated 1905 
(which were in the possession of the Maxwells) 
may show some of these spaces in the original 
hospital intended for nurses but never built: a 
large dining room in the western section of the 
administration block (on Level F) and a single 
space intended for the head nurse in the east 
tower (Level E).8 The original drawings for the 
hospital, however, which also do not necessar­
ily reflect what was constructed, show a series 
of small rooms and a waiting room for nurses 
in the central administration building, in addi­
tion to a tiny space "with inspecting windows, 
which command the entire wards."9 There was 
also a special office on the principal floor in this 
early scheme assigned to the Lady Superinten­
dent.10 There is little evidence however, at this 
point, to ascertain where the first nurses at the 
RVH may have slept.11 

The main building of the RVH was designed 
by British architect Henry Saxon Snell in 1889-
93, who was well-known in England and Scot­
land as the designer of workhouses and hospi­
tals, and as the author of two significant books, 
Charitable and Parochial Establishments (1881) 
and Hospital Construction and Management 
(1883). A central administration block and two 
long and narrow open wards form a U- shaped 
ensemble facing south, towards McGill Uni­
versity, wi th wh ich the hospital is affiliated 
(Fig. 2). Influenced by the ideas of Florence 
Nightingale, Snell 's building was a "pavilion 

hospital," in which the separation and isolation 
of both patients and diseases were thought to 
d i s c o u r a g e the s p r e a d of infec t ion . 1 2 Con­
structed of Montreal l imestone, the hospital 
was also distinguished by romantic turrets fram­
ing generous sun porches at the corners of its 
imposing medical and surgical wards . Snell 
modelled the Montreal hospital on Edinburgh's 
Royal Infirmary, constructed by David Bryce in 
1870. This "Scottish baronial style" pleased the 
hospital's upper-class patrons, whose families 
had emigrated from Scotland.13 

The construction of the new residence was 
intended to improve the daily lives of the nurses 
at the busy urban hospital. Separate quarters 
were considered particularly imperative after a 
fire in 1905 damaged many of the nurses ' bed­
rooms on the fourth floor of the Snell building, 
forcing them to sleep in the surgical wing for 
several months.14 Adjoining the ventilation tow­
er of Snell's west or surgical wing on the slopes 
of Mount Royal, the Maxwells' five-storey, fire­
proof residence gave the nurses private space 
within their sphere of work, and status and vis­
ibility in the community (Figs. 3 and 4). In its 
heavy masonry construction, stepped gables, 
and detai ls in tended to evoke a par t icular ly 
Scottish medical tradition, the new building 
mimicked, to some extent, its older neighbour, 
to which it was directly connected through a 
passageway above the east entrance. 

The RVH nurses' home also drew heavily on 
middle-class domestic architecture, offering its 
aspir ing res idents 114 bedrooms, ten sitting 
rooms in which to socialize in small groups, a 
grand dining room, and a sequence of elegant 
spaces on its west side, including a library, liv-

Fig. 2 
Photograph by William 
Notmun and Son of the 
Royal Victoria Hospital, 
designed by Henry 
Saxon Snell in 1889-93. 
This view shows Pine 
Avenue, its intersection 
with University Street, 
and the wooded slopes of 
Mount Royal. (Courtesy 
McCord Museum of 
Canadian History, 
Notman Photographic 
Archives! 
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ing room, anteroom, and a large assembly hall 
with a stage. These spaces were deliberately 
home-like, in tended to reflect the residential 
function of the new building and were given 
special emphasis in the massing and elevations 
of the building. The nurses ' home as a build­
ing type, at this early stage of its development, 
knew nothing of the more institutional class­
rooms and demonstrat ion labs characteristic 
of later nurses' homes.15 The education of nurses 
at this time was largely conducted in the hospi­
tal itself.16 

Even the siting of the building was roman­
tic. Nestled among the trees and poised on the 
steep ground west of the Snell building, the orig­
inal nurses ' residence was only partially visi­
ble from Pine Avenue, the busy thoroughfare 
in front of the RVH. The winding pathways and 
obliquely-placed gateways of the growing hos­
pital complex ensured that the residence was 
mostly seen in perspective views. 

The agitated silhouette of the home's stepped 
gables, which were p resumably inspired by 
Snell's extensive use of the Scottish feature on 
the hospi ta l wards , vent i la t ion towers , and 
adminis t ra t ion block of the earlier building, 
added to the romantic perception of the build­
ing. So did the fact that the Maxwells' nurses ' 
residence was the first major extension to the 
hospi ta l to break the a p p a r e n t symmetry of 
Snell's monumental courtyard.17 This gesture 
expressed the newer building's non-institutional 
nature, which was further differentiated by the 
proliferation of dormers and stone railings on 
the Maxwell building. Indeed, the Maxwells ' 
perspective view (Fig. 1) emphasizes their build­
ing's isolation from the Snell hospital, whose 
wes t t ower and w a r d loom b e h i n d the n e w 
bui ld ing in the d rawing . The van tage point 
selected for the drawing and for many photo­
g r a p h s (Fig. 5) of the b u i l d i n g comple t e ly 
obscured the r e s idence ' s connec t ion to the 

Fig. 3 
Ground floor plan of the 
nurses' residence by 
Edward and W. S. 
Maxwell. The connection 
to the original hospital by 
Henry Saxon Snell is at 
the bottom of the 
drawing. (Courtesy 
Canadian Architecture 
Collection, McGill 
University) 
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hospital, making it appear, instead, as a free­
s tand ing , i sola ted (and the re fo re smaller) , 
domestic structure, 

This idea of a separate, seemingly domestic 
structure situated in a romantic landscape was 
essential to the experience of the first nurses ' 
residence. In addition to the winding flagstone 
path, which, as one resident of 1933 described, 
"entices us to follow whi ther it doth lead; we 
yield and follow it to the door of the Home,"18 

the location of the nurses' residence to the west 
of the hospital ensured that it was seen against 
the backdrop of Mount Royal's wooded slopes 
(Fig. 6). The area above the original hospital was 
vacant at this time; Percy Nobbs ' own Patho­
logical Institute was constructed to the east in 
1924, across University Street from the Snell 
building. As was the case with many late nine­
teenth-century inst i tut ions for women, par­
ticularly colleges, it is likely that the western 
site was considered more appropriate for the 
nurses' residence because of its more natural, 
"untouched" character. 

This association of women and wilderness 
was central to the process of suburbanization 
in the nineteenth century, as well as in the loca­
tion of the first colleges for women at univer­
sities, which were typically relegated to the peri­
phery of the campuses or even cities. It stemmed 
from long-established conceptions of nature, 
understood in the late n ineteenth century as 
healthier, safer, and more beautiful than the 
unpredictable, industrialized city.19 In the cases 

of both suburbs and early colleges, this wide­
spread belief that women required protection 
from the dangers of urban life meant that they 
were removed or separated from centres of pow­
er, which tended to be located in more urban 
(less natural) locations.20 

The eas tern sect ion of the large RVH site 
(both sides of University Street) has been per­

ceived for a century as a more masculine, tech­
nology-oriented (urban) area. In addition to sev­
eral prestigious medical buildings, it housed 
the power house/ laundry building (1900) and 
ambulance garages (1911), while the western 
and northern edge of the roughly triangular site 
- the steep, rocky, wooded mountainside - was 
reserved for women (and wealthier patients).21 

This edge still today is marked by the Allan 
Memorial (a renovated mansion), the former 
nurses ' residence, the Ross Pavilion (1915-16), 
and the mate rn i ty hospital (1925-26).22 Just 
beyond lie the heavily wooded, rocky slopes of 
Mount Royal. 

Despite the separateness of the building as 
expressed in the drawing and photographs, the 
actual connection of the nurses ' residence to 
the hospital building proper was a blatant state­
ment of the inst i tut ion's expectat ion of total 
commitment on the part of its student nurses. 
The narrow passage, carefully detailed by the 
architects, expressed - maybe even ensured -
the fact that the nurses' six-and-a-half-day work 
week left little time for any life outside the hos­
pital.23 The actual intersection of the hospital 
and nurses ' residence was given elaborate ar­
chi tectural at tent ion; the Maxwells ' design­
ed a special door for the juncture.24 Its decora­
tive ironwork must have warned unwelcome 
visitors of the more private, domestic quarters 
beyond. 

Fig. 4 
Aerial photograph of the 
Royal Victoria Hospital, 
Montreal. (Courtesy 
Royal Victoria Hospital) 

Fig. 5 
Photograph taken in 
1907 of the nurses' 
residence by Edward and 
W. S. Maxwell. The 
building nearly always 
appeared in drawings 
and photographs as a 
picturesque, free­
standing house. rather 
than as an addition to an 
institution. (Courtesy 
McGill University 
Archives) 
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This close connection between hospital and 
nurses' residence was uncharacteristic of build­
ings constructed later in the century. Indeed, 
the influential Survey of Nursing Education in 
Canada, conducted by George Weir in 1932, rec­
ommended that nurses' residences be separated 
from hospitals, allowing "adequate opportunity 
for privacy, rest, quiet retirement for study and 
for cultural recreation."25 By then the modern­
ization of both the hospital and the profession 
of nursing (and women in general) meant that 
nurses could demand a certain degree of auton-

Fig. 6 
Site plan of the Royal 
Victoria Hospital 
showing selected 
buildings. (Jennifer 
Beardsley) 

omy from the hospital. This autonomy was ex­
pressed in spatial terms by the physical distance 
separating their places of residence and work. 
Edward Stevens, an expert on hospital archi­
tecture and designer of two major buildings at 
the RVH, described the separation of residence 
and hospital in the 1920s as beneficial to the 
patients, taking the nurses' need for recreation 
for granted. 

Any hospital of considerable size should have 
its nurses' residence. This should be a sepa­
rate building, not too remote from the hospi­
tal. but far enough away so that the noises of 
an entertainment, a dancing party or a romp 
will not disturb the patients.26 

Stevens also emphasized the need for nurses to 
"go out of the environment of the sick room, out 
of the sound of suffering, out of hospital smells, 
and in fact out of the hospital atmosphere."27 In 
this earlier period of development, however, 
the need for nurses to escape their workplace 
was unacknowledged in spatial terms. 

The building's interiors, too, were quite 
domestic in terms of their physical form, as 

well as their intended use. Photographs of the 
new wing added by Lawson and Little show 
the social spaces typically provided for nurses 
throughout the century. The new reference 
library, for example, replaced the earlier library 
by the Maxwells which was subsumed in the 
new wing's entrance, while a new gymnasium 
extended from the Maxwells' original recep­
tion room (Fig. 7).28 These rooms were furnished 
with comfortable chairs and tables, typical of 
middle-class houses at the time. The furniture 
was arranged casually, loosely grouped around 
fireplaces and pianos, probably intended to sim­
ulate intimate, home-like gatherings. 

The yearbook praises the domestic charac­
ter of the new residence, remarking on the foy­
er's "soft lights," which, the author suggested, 
"invite us to linger." The reception room on the 
first floor, "tastefully and comfortably furnish­
ed," was the setting for bridge parties and teas. 
The library, shown here, also illustrated in the 
yearbook, was "luxuriously furnished with 
piano, chesterfields and occasional chairs."29 

Martha Vicinus has pointed out how many 
early buildings for women - colleges, schools, 
settlement houses - looked like large houses. 
This domestic imagery was probably intended 
to smooth the transition for middle-class women 
to the world of paid work, while at the same time 
offeringthe promise of gentle protection in that 
realm. "The surroundings," says Vicinus of the 
first colleges for women in England, "bespoke 
permanence, seriousness of purpose, and the 
same solidity that marked the middle-class fam­
ilies from which the bulk of them came."30 The 
house-like appearance of the RVH nurses' res­
idence probably assured anxious parents, too, 
that their daughters would be looked after, pro­
tected, and separated from the hospital, the 
street, and the city beyond. 

The class-conscious profession of nursing 
may also have presumed that the association of 
the residence with upper-middle-class houses 
would attract young women from wealthier 
families. Just as the nurses' uniforms made 
young graduates feel "dignified and poised," the 
new building may have been intended to impose 
middle-class values on working-class women, 
whose backgrounds were increasingly unac­
ceptable to the profession in the decades fol­
lowing Nightingale's sweeping reforms.31 

Edward Stevens pointed to the domestic char­
acter of the architecture, expressing concerns 
over both class and performance: 
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The more attractive and homelike this build­
ing can be made and the more alluring it can be 
made to the young woman who is taking up 
nursing, the better will be the class of women 
who will come to it and, in the end, the better 
will be the care that the patient will receive.32 

From this perspective, Nobbs had chosen the 
ideal architects; the Maxwells were masters of 
domestic design. Indeed, mansions designed 
by the brothers in the surrounding neighbour­
hood for prominent officers and benefactors of 
the hospital featured many of the same charac­
teristics as the nurses ' residence. Henry Vin­
cent Meredith was president of the RVH from 
1913 to 1929. His family's home, built in 1894, 
was probably the closest Maxwel l house in 
terms of physical proximity to the hospital. It 
comprised elegant public rooms, expressed on 
the bu i ld ing ' s exterior , wi th pr iva te family 
spaces (Fig. 8).33 Like the nurses ' residence, it 
boasted fine wood panelling and gracious cir­
culation sequences; like all upper-middle-class 
residences of its time, it saw the strict separa­
tion of family and servants, men and women, 
adults and children. Its rooms were highly spe­
cialized and elaborately decorated. It is an ironic 
twist of fate that this house (and several others 
designed by the Maxwells) became part of the 
insti tution when bequea thed to the hospital 
later in the century.34 

Although there were no special apartment 
buildings for working women constructed in 
Montreal, as there were in both New York and 
London, the city had a well-established land­
scape of residences for women. 3 5 Montreal 's 
many convents constitute an interesting exam­
ple of extremely sophisticated (and large) resi­
dential blocks, which were often combined with 
enormous hospitals.36 Like the RVH, the con­
vents were typically H- or U- shaped ensembles 
of narrow greystone buildings. The Montreal 
convent was usually four or five storeys, capped 
by steep gable or hipped roofs with dormer win­
dows. Convent elevations featured repetitive 
rows of uniform windows, with little indication 
of the variety of overlapping spaces within the 
building. 

A closer neighbour to the Royal Victoria Hos­
pital was the Royal Victoria College (RVC). The 
first residential college for women at McGill 
University, it was founded in 1896.37 The orig­
inal RVC, designed by the well-known Ameri­
can archi tect Bruce Price, was completed in 
1899.3B It comprised classrooms and a huge din­

ing room on the ground floor, while the assem­
bly hall, library, parlour, and more classrooms 
were on the first storey. The upper two floors 
of RVC had variously shaped bedrooms and 
shared sitting rooms, arranged along a straight 
corridor. The hospital and the residential col­
lege shared more than a concern for women; 
both were es tabl ished through beques t s by 
wealthy benefactor Donald A. Smith, or Lord 
Strathcona. It was he who approved the idea of 
a separate building as a home for nurses at the 
Royal Victoria Hospital.39 

In spite of the traditional, domestic attributes 
of the n u r s e s ' r e s idence , the bu i ld ing type 
became a t rademark feature of the "modern" 
hospital throughout urban North America. An 
implici t a s sumpt ion in the d e v e l o p m e n t of 
the type was that the more efficient the nurses ' 
residence, the more efficient the hospital in gen­
eral. This led to the gradual inclusion of educa­
tional spaces within the program of the nurses' 
home, a mark of both decreasing reliance on 
the hospital per se as the primary site of nurs­
ing education and of increased specialization 

Fig. 7 
This photograph shows 
the Maxwells' reception 
room in the foreground 
and the Lawson and 
Little gymnasium in the 
background. (Courtesty 
Royal Victoria Hospital) 

within the nursing profession. "Modern" nurses' 
residences built after the 1920s included social 
spaces that tended to be multifunctional, accom­
modating complex changes in use, relative to 
the earlier near-replicas of traditional domes­
tic spaces. An example of this is the transfor­
mation of the Maxwells' assembly room of 1905 
into the expanded assembly room/gymnasi 11111 
space of Lawson and Little in the 1930s. "It is a 
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Fig. a 
Henry Vincent Meredith 
residence designed by 
Edward and W. S. 
Maxwell in 1894. 
(Photograph by Brian 
Merri'lll 

convertible room appearing now as a ballroom, 
now a gymnasium and again as a lecture the­
atre, seating comfortably two hundred and fifty 
persons," boasted the 1933 yearbook. Despite 
this "modern,'' multifunctional conception of 
the room, social rooms in nurses' residences 
were typically furnished in an extremely con­
servative manner. The rooms at the RVH, for 
example, featured oriental rugs, upholstered 
armchairs and couches, Windsor chairs, and 
heavy draperies with sheers. 

The basement level, reflecting the full inte­
gration of educational spaces into nurses' resi­
dences by this time, housed the classrooms and 
labs.40 Although this "teaching unit" occupied an 
entire floor, these rooms received no special 
treatment in the massing or elevations of the 
extension. In terms of planning, however, the 
educational rooms were considered extremely 
up-to-date, planned as they were on "scientific" 
principles. The classroom, for example, had a 
sloping floor, allowing each student to view the 
blackboard in the front of the room; the demon­
stration room included beds, model trays, and 
mannequins, simulating the real hospital envi­
ronment next door.41 

At the same time as the building saw the intro­
duction of these supposedly modern features, 
the nurses' residence was still an arena in which 
the private lives of nursing professionals could 
be closely supervised and controlled by the hos­
pital administration. Student nurses could not 
marry; they kept strict curfews and their friend­

ships were carefully monitored.42 In the 1920s, 
nurses were required to wear hats when leav­
ing the building and to return home by 10:00 
p.m. Smoking, datingthe so-called "housemen" 
(residents), or mentioning the issue of salary 
were strictly prohibited.43 

Lawson and Little's monumental extension 
to the Maxwells' building in the early 1930s gave 
physical form to many of the restrictions im­
posed on nurses' lives. The new building con­
tinued the general massing of the earlier resi­
dence by extending the west end of the Maxwell 
project with a new entry sequence (through 
the former Maxwell library). This hallway led 
to the generous gymnasium behind the for­
mer stage of the Maxwell assembly room. A 
medieval-revival tower housed the elevator, 
another modern feature. 

The tower also marked the crossing of this 
long hallway and the double-loaded corridor 
that commanded the more residential section 
of the new extension. Like the educational 
rooms in the basement, bedrooms in the new 
wing were considered extremely up-to-date, 
"artistically furnished in a green, rose or tan­
gerine colour scheme."44 Special bedroom fur­
niture, like the multifunct ional social spaces in 
the new wing, served several purposes at once. 
A single piece served as dresser, desk, and book­
case, for example.45 The section of the building 
running from the elevator lobby in the tower, 
southwards, toward Pine Avenue, was known 
as "peacock alley," because of its bright colours 
and highly decorated appearance.46 

The expansion of the residence so soon after 
its completion may have sprung from the hos­
pital's desire to segregate nurses even more than 
the original home prescribed. Of great concern 
to the hospital administration, after all, was the 
fact that, even after the construction of the orig­
inal residence, student nurses continued to have 
close contact with the male staff. In the early 
1920s, for example, when the Maxwell building 
no longer accommodated the number of nurses 
working at the RVH, students whose names 
began with the letters A through ) had been 
housed in part of the former Ward K, which had 
been converted into a temporary residence. The 
other half of the former ward was occupied by 
the "housemen" (residents), separated from the 
studenl nurses by only a particle-board parti­
tion. "In no time a direct communication sys­
tem had been established," recounted Eileen 
Flanagan 50 years later, "by means of a clothes-
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line stretched across the alleyway between the 
two wings. Many a note and batches of home­
made candy were passed across."47 

This notion of the necessary spatial confine­
ment of nurses, no doubt stemming from their 
youthful, unmarried state and selfless commit­
ment to helping others, was expressed in the 
Canadian architectural press throughout the 
twentieth century. Advertisements for build­
ing products in the Journal of the Royal Archi­
tectural Institute of Canada, for example, into 
the 1960s, frequently featured nurses with ar­
chitectural components which emphasized 
hygiene, safety, and quiet (Fig. 9).48 Nurses 
shown with locks and doors emphasized their 
roles as "guardians" of the all-important thresh-

CORBIN 
IN 
ACTION 

old. This pointed juxtaposition with doors and 
door hardware may also have been an explicit 
reference to nurses' purity and chastity; the 
thresholds depicted in the press, in this way, 
implied the containment of women in spaces 
controlled by men. 

Nurses' alleged endorsement of "quiet" mate­
rials, such as acoustic ceilings and flooring, may 
have reflected their supposedly passive quali­
ties.49 Nurses at the RVH were constantly threat­
ened with expulsion and "never made to feel 
that we were in any way indispensable to the 

illustrious establishment." "Well, it will only 
take a car ticket to take you home," claimed Lady 
Superintendent of Nurses Mabel Hersey to new 
student Eileen Flanagan in 1920. A teacher and 
member of the first graduating class, Nellie 
Goodhue, apparently repeatedly told her pro­
bationers: "If any of you wishes to leave, it will 
cause no more effect than dipping a finger in a 
pail of water and pulling it out."sn 

This confinement and surveillance of stu­
dent nurses in early twentieth-century hospi­
tals was primarily the responsibility of the head 
nurse, or Lady Superintendent. Lawson and 
Little's plans of the early 1930s reflect the im­
portant place occupied by Miss Mabel Hersey, 
who was superintendent from 1908 to 1938 and 
figured centrally in the development of nurs­
ing education and the profession in Quebec.51 

While the inclusion of the classrooms, library, 
and gymnasium must have appeared as fairly 
progressive at the time - the institution's main­
tenance of the students' minds and bodies - the 
subtie renovations made to the Maxwell build­
ing by the later architects are extremely telling. 
Four bedrooms in the south end of the original 
building were transformed at the time of the 
new addition into a relatively luxurious four-
room apartment for Hersey. Critical to its func­
tion in the growing complex, of course, was the 
new suite's strategic position overlooking the 
entrance area and stairs. Inside the building, 
Miss Hersey could easily survey the long corri­
dor of the residence's main floor. 

This form of direct surveillance was un­
known in other residential sections of the hos­
pital complex and may not have even occurred 
in the earlier nurses' residence of 1905, as the 
Medical Board had suggested that the Lady 
Superintendent's quarters should remain in the 
Administration Building, even after the con­
struction of a separate Nurses' Home,52 The 
(male) Superintendent of the entire hospital, 
for example, did not even live at the hospital, 
underlining again this important question of 
which employees were permitted to live apart 
from their place of work. 

Medical interns, who did live at the hos­
pital, moved freely throughout the institution 
and were seen as fundamental members of the 
hospital establishment. In 1930, the RVH con­
structed a special residence for interns, design­
ed by Ross and Macdonald, on the foundations 
of Ward S, the old isolation pavilion and original 
hospital laundry building. The new four-storey, 

Fig. 9 
Advertisement for 
Corbin locks from 
Architecture Canada 
(fan. 1968): 8. This image 
is typical of the way 
nurses appeared in the 
Canadian architectural 
press juxtaposed with 
building products that 
emphasized the notion 
of threshold." 
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Fig. 10 
Interns' building, 
designed by Ross and 
Macdonald, 1929. 
(Courtesy Royal Victoria 
Hospital! 

fireproof home for 40 interns was located di­
rectly behind Snell's administration block, i n a 
( lommanding position at the centre of the entire 
complex, between the historic building and the 
new, more "scientific" hospitals designed by 
Stevens and Lee, which had been constructed 
up the hill.53 Like the nurses' residence, the in­
terns' building was a long, narrow building with 
stepped gables at its ends (Fig. 10). Social spaces 
provided for the interns, however, were in­
tended to encourage qualities associated with 
masculinity and power; the first floor billiards 
room was featured prominently in photographs 
of the hospital's resident interns."'4 Promotional 
photographs showing a typical day in the life 
of an intern featured him in active modes, often 
col i trolling new technology or performing med­
ical procedures; nurses, on the other hand, were 
featured in the hospital's promotional material 
gathered around a piano, engaging in informal 
conversations, or watching television. Even in 
the enormous complex of the modern hospital, 
doctors-in-training were seen as men of science, 
while: student nurses were pictured as women 
at home. The planning of the hospital, as we 
have seen, is material evidence of these gender 
roles. 

Historian Judi Coburn has noted how nurs­
ing has been shaped by two powerful ideologi­
cal forces: the "bourgeois ideology of feminin­
ity," which attempted to "contain women's work 
outside the home within the duties of home-
making," as well as the allure of professional 
status.55 The architecture of the RVH nurses' 
residence reflects this duality of forces that 
shaped the profession. While the building's 
homelike character was intended to attract 
middle-class women to join the ranks of the 
growing profession, these same architectural 
features also served to limit women's partici­
pation in the world of health care. 

But the buildings also served very positive 
roles in the shaping of the Canadian nursing 
profession. Residences gave nurses real space 
in which to live and work, in contrast to their 
prior "invisible" occupation of the hospital in 
general; the residences' clear connection to the 

hospital - in terms of both a real physical link 
and stylistic congruity - acknowledged the stu­
dents' gruelling schedules and total commit­
ment to nursing. Most significantly, the archi­
tecture of nurses' residences offered single 
women a place to live in the city, outside the tra­
ditional, middle-class (or working-class) home. 

In addition, the history of this much-neg­
lected building type should remind us, as ar­
chitectural historians, of the pitfalls of isolated 
typological studies. The dynamic interplay 
between the architectures of the hospital and 
the homes of the surrounding neighbourhood is 
material evidence of the murky distinctions 
between domestic and institutional architec­
ture at this time. The study of architecture des­
igned for women underlines this danger, as it 
nearly always represents a carefully negotiated 
compromise of private and public space. 

Today, the section of the Royal Victoria Hos­
pital that once housed its student nurses is gen­
erally indistinguishable from the rest of the 
institution. Its finely crafted interiors have given 
way to the more anonymous, undecorated, "sci­
entific" design of postwar hospital architecture. 
The only traces of its tenure as purpose-built 
architecture for women are in extant architec­
tural drawings and photographs, preserved 
largely because the original building and its 
additions were designed by relatively well-
known (male) architects. The mere footprint of 
the nurses' residences in the ensemble, none­
theless, is a potent reminder of both the pre­
sence and absence of women in the twentieth-
century city. 
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Roux, Conor Sampson, and Gordon Whiteside. 
Graduates of the RVH Training School for Nurses 
and the staff of the Royal Victoria Hospital gen­
erously shared their material and memories, par-
ticulary Lorine Besel, Pat Blanshay, Helen 
Belschner, Brenda Cornell, Linda de Forest, and 
Martin Entin. 

2. The Maxwells were the winners of a limited com­
petition held in 1905; the other invited partici­
pants were Hutchison and Wood, Taylor Hogle 
and Davis, Robert Findlay, Marchand and Has­
kell, and George A. Brown. Percy Nobbs chose 
the winning scheme. See House Committee, 
RVH, Minute Book 21903-1915. The most com­
prehensive study of the Maxwells' career is The 
Architecture of Edward and W. S. Maxwell (Mon­
treal: Montreal Museum of Fine Arts, 1991). The 
Maxwell papers are held in the Canadian Archi­
tecture Collection (CAC), Blackader-Lauterman 
Library, McGill University; see Irena Murray, 
éd., Edward and W.S. Maxwell: Guide to the 
Archive (Montreal: CAC, 1986). 
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4. Hutchison and Wood had designed numerous 
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1905 to 1912, including the repairs made to the 
administration building after the fire of 1905, the 
ambulance garage, and the workshops. 

5. The drawings for the extension to the nurses' 
residence are in the Lawson and Little Archive, 
Collection of the Canadian Centre for Archi­
tecture. The drawing for their extension to the 
interns' residence in 1937-1938 and a proposed 
dining hall for nurses in 1944 are also at the CCA. 
See D. Sclater Lewis, Royal Victoria Hospital 
1887-1947(Montreal: McGill University Press, 
1969), 250. 

6. The architecture of nursing has been little ex­
plored by historians; the most thorough studies 
are Karen Kingsley, "The Architecture of Nurs­
ing," in Images of Nurses: Perspectives from His­
tory, Art and Literature, ed. Anne Hudson Jones 
(Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 
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Nightingale's writings on the design and plan­
ning of spaces for nurse training, residence, and 
work. On the RVH Training School in particu­
lar, see The Alumnae Association Incorporated 
oftheRoyal Victoria Hospital Training School for 
Nurses 1896-1972, souvenir booklet prepared by 
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ing of the Mon treal General Hospital (Montreal: 
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24. Kingsley has remarked that many nurses ' resi­
dences had doors of exceptional architectural 
merit, which lent the institution "identity and 
stature" and also marked the transition between 
work and home. Many of the doors in her study 
were the main entries to the building from the 
exterior, which she notes were ironically more 
often used by guests than by the nurses . This 
door at the RVH, however, was an interior door 
from the hospital. RVH nurses, however, were 
often photographed at the entry to the Lawson 
and Little extension. 

Material History Review 40 (Fall 1994) I Revue d'histoire de la culture matérielle 40 (automne 1994) 

39 



25. Gibbon and Mathewson, 376. 
26. Edward F. Stevens, The American Hospital of 
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